Georgia State University Digital Archive @ GSU

Psychology Dissertations

Department of Psychology

9-9-2011

The Role of Frontal Lobe White Matter Integrity and Executive Functioning in Predicting Adaptive Functioning in Alzheimer's Disease

Matthew A. Mumaw Georgia State University, mmumaw1@student.gsu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalarchive.gsu.edu/psych_diss

Recommended Citation

Mumaw, Matthew A., "The Role of Frontal Lobe White Matter Integrity and Executive Functioning in Predicting Adaptive Functioning in Alzheimer's Disease" (2011). *Psychology Dissertations*. Paper 102.

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Department of Psychology at Digital Archive @ GSU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Psychology Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Archive @ GSU. For more information, please contact digitalarchive@gsu.edu.

THE ROLE OF FRONTAL LOBE WHITE MATTER INTEGRITY AND EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONING IN PREDICTING ADAPTIVE FUNCTIONING IN ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

by

MATTHEW ARON MUMAW

Under the Direction of Dr.Tricia Z. King

ABSTRACT

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common form of dementia and is characterized by a gradual deterioration of the patients' ability to independently perform day to day activities. Researchers have discovered significant changes in neuroanatomy, cognition and behavior that are related to the disease process of AD and researchers continue to uncover new variables, such as the presence of vascular risk factors, which may further increase our ability to understand and characterize the disease. The purpose of this study is to identify the neuroanatomical, cognitive and behavioral variables that best predict impairment of instrumental activities of daily living in individuals with probable AD. Reduced white matter integrity in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex as well as the presence of vascular risk factors significantly predicted impairments in activities of daily living (ADLs). Executive functioning skills, typically described as frontal lobe system behaviors, were positively associated with ADLs. Further, executive functions fully mediated the relationship between frontal lobe white matter integrity and ADLs. A better understanding of the variables responsible for diminished ADLs in AD will allow researchers and clinicians to better target prevention and intervention strategies and ultimately help individuals with AD to maintain their independence for a longer duration.

INDEX WORDS: Executive functions, Neuroanatomy, Neuroimaging, Adaptive functioning, Vascular risk factors

THE ROLE OF FRONTAL LOBE WHITE MATTER INTEGRITY AND EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONING IN PREDICTING ADAPTIVE FUNCTIONING IN ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

by

MATTHEW ARON MUMAW

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in the College of Arts and Sciences

Georgia State University

2012

Copyright by Matthew Aron Mumaw 2012

THE ROLE OF FRONTAL LOBE WHITE MATTER INTEGRITY AND EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONING IN PREDICTING ADAPTIVE FUNCTIONING IN ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

by

MATTHEW ARON MUMAW

Committee Chair: Tricia Z. King

Committee: Felicia Goldstein

Ann Pearman

Erin Tone

Electronic Version Approved:

Office of Graduate Studies

College of Arts and Sciences

Georgia State University

May 2012

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES vii
LIST OF FIGURES viii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Neuropathology2
1.2 Diffusion Tensor Imaging
1.3 DTI in Normal Aging4
1.4 DTI in Mild Cognitive Impairment5
1.5 DTI in Alzheimer's disease6
1.6 Vascular Risk Factors and ADLs7
1.7 Executive Functions9
1.8 Executive Functioning and ADLs10
1.9 Neuroanatomy of Executive Functioning11
1.10 Effects of Vascular Risk Factors on Executive Functioning
1.11 Present Study
1.12 Specific Aims
CHAPTER 2: METHOD 17
2.1 Participants
2.2 Measures
2.2.1 Activities of Daily Living19
2.2.2 Attention
2.2.3 Executive Functioning21
2.2.4 Vascular Risk Factors22

2.2.5 Diffusion Tensor Imaging	23
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	26
3.1 Participants	26
3.2 Aim 1: Group Comparisons	27
3.2.1 Group differences in white matter integrity.	27
3.2.2 Group differences in executive functioning	27
3.3 Aim 2: Relationship between WMI, EF, and IADLs	28
3.3.1 Relationship between EF and IADLs	28
3.3.2 Relationship between WMI and EF.	29
3.3.3 EF as a mediator of the relationship between WMI and IADLs	29
3.4 Aim 3: Relationship between vascular risk factors, EF, and IADLs	31
3.4.1 Relationship between EF and IADLs	31
3.4.2 EF as a mediator of the relationship between vascular risk factors	and IADLs.
	32
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	32
4.1 Group Comparisons	32
4.1.1 Covariates	33
4.1.2 Group Differences in Executive Functioning	34
4.1.3 Group differences in WMI	35
4.2 Relationship between WMI, EF, and IADLs	
4.2.1 Relationship between EF and IADLs	36
4.2.2 Relationship between WMI and EF	
4.2.3 EF as a mediator of the relationship between WMI and IADLs	

R	EFERENCES	. 44
	4.5 Future Directions	. 41
	4.4 Limitations of the Study	. 40
	4.3 Relationship between vascular risk factors, EF, and IADLs	. 39

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Scanning Parameters	25
Table 2:	Relationship between EF and IADLs	27
Table 3:	Relationship between WMI and IADLs	28
Table 4:	EF as a Mediator of the Relationship between WMI and IADLs	29

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	Mediational Model Examining EF as a Mediator of the			
	Relationship between WMI in the DLPFC and IADLs			

Figure 2:Mediational Model Examining EF as a Mediator of the30Relationship between Vascular Risk Factors and IADLs

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive neurodegenerative condition that ultimately leads to dementia and deterioration in the ability to function independently in day to day activities. These deficits in the ability to function independently constitute a challenge not only for the patient, but also for caregivers and society. Minimizing the impact of functional deficits, whether through treatment or prevention, necessitates a clear understanding of the variables that are responsible for the deficits. Given the profound impact of AD upon individuals and society, research into the disease has investigated a wide range of variables including neuroanatomy, cognitive deficits and behavioral changes. Despite the efforts of researchers, much remains to be learned about the factors that contribute to the onset and progression of the disease as well as how these different variables relate to functional outcome. The purpose of the proposed research is to identify neuroanatomical and cognitive changes that predict deficits in the ability to perform instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs) in individuals with AD.

Individuals with AD have been found to differ from healthy controls on several important variables within the domains of neuropathology and cognition. However, the ultimate impact of the disease may be best represented by the changes in the ability of those affected to function successfully and independently. The criteria for a diagnosis of dementia published within the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (American Psychiatric Association [DSM-IV-TR], 2003) requires the presence of impairment in social or occupational functioning and this impairment must represent a decrease from previous levels of functioning. In both research and clinical work, this is often assessed through questionnaires and interviews that try to establish the patient's

ability to function independently and perform activities which most individuals perform on a day to day basis. These activities of daily living (ADLs) are frequently subdivided into easier tasks and more difficult tasks. Basic activities of daily living (BADLs) are activities that are generally concerned with self-care tasks such as bathing, toileting, and eating. Instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs) are more complex tasks required to function effectively and independently within the context of a community and involves activities such as using the telephone, managing money, and housework.

1.1 Neuropathology

Changes in cognition and behavior may be the direct result of disease related changes in the structure and function of the brain. Until recently, studies have traditionally relied on MRI, fMRI, and histopathology to identify potential brain changes in AD that are distinct from changes that occur in Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) and normal aging.

Research using conventional imaging techniques has consistently found changes in the gross structural anatomy of the brains of normally aging individuals. Increased age is associated with increased volume of cerebrospinal fluid filled spaces, such as the ventricles, reflecting a reduction in the size of the brain itself (Guttman et al., 1998; Jernigan et al., 2001). Researchers have typically not found similar reductions of white matter or very small changes in white matter within the aging brain (Raz et al., 1997). Despite the inability of conventional MRI to detect significant changes in white matter, postmortem studies have found that the white matter in older individuals is subject to microstructural degradation in the precentral gyrus and the anterior corpus callosum that could lead to interruption of the frontal-subcortical circuits and cause age-related declines in cognitive functioning (Aboitiz et al., 1996). Likewise, imaging studies have discovered changes in the gross anatomy of those with MCI (De Leon et al., 1997) and AD (Townsend et al., 2002), including atrophy of gray matter in medial temporal lobe structures such as the entorhinal cortex and hippocampus. Although traditional MRI and histopathology have identified potential anatomical correlates of the disease process, until recently researchers were unable to explore microstructural changes of the brain in vivo.

1.2 Diffusion Tensor Imaging

Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) is a recent development in neuroimaging technology that provides additional and unique information about the microstructure of both gray and white matter. DTI differs from other techniques in that it provides information about the diffusion of water in multiple directions within tissues of the brain. Theoretically, the nature and direction of water diffusion should differ within the brain according to the degree and type of organization of the structures within a given region (Horsfield et al., 2002). Water should diffuse freely (isotropic motion) in areas with little structure such as within the ventricles. In contrast, white matter consists of well organized collections of fibers with a predominant direction of alignment and diffusion within the white matter of the brain should be characterized by highly directional (anisotropic) diffusion. This methodology represents a significant improvement over normal MRI and other imaging techniques in that it allows researchers to make inferences about the structure of the tissues on a much smaller scale than with the

traditional techniques (Basser, 1995). This is beneficial in that it is difficult to differentiate between specific white matter tracts using MRI or even during visual inspection, post mortem (Mori, 2007). In addition to allowing researchers to identify particular tracts within bundles of white matter tissue, DTI also allows researchers to detect small microstructural changes within both gray and white matter by examining the proportion and magnitude of diffusion within the tissues. Researchers investigating white matter use many different DTI indices including mean diffusivity (MD) and fractional anisotropy (FA). MD is an overall measure of the diffusion within brain structures and provides a general assessment of the structural integrity of the tissue. FA also indicates the magnitude of water diffusion within a tissue but also indicates the direction of diffusion.

1.3 DTI in Normal Aging

Research conducted with conventional MRI has revealed small reductions in white matter volume (Courchesne et al., 2000) and greater numbers of white matter hyperintensities (DeCarli et al., 2001) in normal aging when compared to the brains of younger controls. Although, these findings suggest possible white matter deterioration as a part of normal aging, conventional MRI does not have the ability to allow researchers to identify more subtle regional changes or microstructural changes. Using DTI, however, researchers have been able to detect more subtle changes in white matter structure related to normal aging. Researchers have found significant declines in FA values in the genu of the corpus callosum, and bilateral frontal and parietal pericallosal white matter (Sullivan 2003). Salat et al. (2005) performed a study comparing DTI measurements in younger and older adults which found that FA in the prefrontal regions of the older adults was significantly reduced compared to the younger adults. These researchers also found that, despite the assumption that frontal white matter was well-preserved until later life, significant reductions in FA could be seen in middle age participants. Although reductions in FA were common across the frontal lobe areas, the white matter of the ventromedial and deep prefrontal regions appeared to be more significantly affected. These reductions in FA indicate reductions in white matter integrity and less alignment of cells with white matter pathways and tend to follow an anterior to posterior pattern of deterioration.

1.4 DTI in Mild Cognitive Impairment

Mild cognitive impairment has frequently been viewed as a prodrome of AD and has generated much attention from researchers hoping to understand the earliest stages of AD as a means to developing methods for preventing the complete conversion to AD. Using DTI, studies have demonstrated the ability of DTI to detect microstructural changes in the hippocampus of individuals with MCI (Muller et al. 2005; Muller et al, 2007). Muller et al. (2007) explored the ability of FA and mean diffusivity (MD) measurements of DTI in comparison with hippocampal volume measurements of standard MRI in MCI to correctly distinguish between a group of healthy controls and individuals previously diagnosed with MCI. When researchers set the specificity to 80%, left hippocampal volumes demonstrated significantly lower sensitivity (50%) when compared to left hippocampal mean diffusivity (89%) and FA (78%) measurements. hippocampal tissue when compared to hippocampal volume. Increased mean diffusivity has also been found in other brain regions including the left and right entorhinal cortices, posterior occipital-parietal cortex, right parietal supramarginal gyrus, and right frontal precentral gyri in patients with MCI (Rose et al, 2006). The same group found reduced FA in the MCI group in the limbic parahippocampal subgyral white matter, right thalamus and left posterior cingulate. Furthermore, these regional differences in FA and MD were correlated with performance on neuropsychological measures. Mean diffusivity in the left hippocampus has also been found to be superior to left hippocampal volume in predicting the conversion of MCI to AD (Fellgiebel, 2006).

1.5 DTI in Alzheimer's disease

As with MCI, studies using DTI have consistently demonstrated reduced white matter integrity in individuals with AD when compared to healthy controls; however, there is not a consensus on the nature of these differences. The involvement of the frontal lobe in the disease process has been a primary area of contention, with some researchers finding that WM integrity does not differ between AD and healthy age-matched controls (Head et al., 2004; Fellgiebel et al., 2004) and others finding significant reductions in frontal white matter integrity (Naggara et al., 2006; Duan et al., 2006; Choi et al., 2005). Head et al. (2004) found that healthy aging was associated with changes in white matter roughly following an anterior to posterior gradient. Individuals with AD did not demonstrate additional deterioration in frontal or temporal white matter integrity when compared with the normally aging group, showing instead increased deterioration in the posterior lobar regions. Given the differences in the

pattern of white matter deterioration between the AD group and the normal controls, the authors argued that different mechanisms were responsible for white matter deterioration in AD when compared to normal aging. In contrast, Choi et al. (2005) found increased MD and reduced FA within superior frontal white matter thereby calling into question the hypothesis that AD involves a process of deterioration separate from normal aging. The authors alternatively suggest that the results support the retrogenesis theory that states that the process of degeneration reverses the order of human development. Other researchers have found significant differences in both gray matter and white matter between individuals with AD and normal, age-matched controls (Rose et al., 2008; Naggara et al., 2006). Rose et al. (2008) found evidence of increased diffusivity within the hippocampus and amygdala as well as the medial temporal, parietal, and frontal lobe gray matter in the AD group. Reductions in FA were localized in the thalamus, parietal white matter, and posterior limbs of the internal capsule reflecting disturbance to the thalamocortical loop. White matter changes also have been discovered in preclinical and presymptomatic carriers of the genes responsible for familial AD. Ringman et al. (2007) found that carriers of the mutated genes had decreased white matter integrity reflected by decreases in FA within the columns of the fornix, the bilateral perforant pathway, and the left orbitofrontal lobe.

1.6 Vascular Risk Factors and ADLs

The neuropathology and brain changes described in the sections above are representative of the disease process in AD that ultimately leads to impairment in the ability to perform IADLs. Even as researchers make progress in understanding the neuroanatomical changes that occur in AD using new technologies such as DTI, new variables are being discovered that contribute to the onset, progression, and severity of the disease. The presence of vascular risk factors such as hypertension and diabetes mellitus has recently emerged as a potentially significant variable in the disease process of AD. The presence of vascular risk factors has not only been associated with changes in white matter, but has also been associated with significant cognitive and behavioral changes in elderly populations.

The presence of vascular risk factors has been associated with declines in adaptive functioning. In a longitudinal study, Kuo et al. (2005) found that both hypertension and Diabetes Mellitus (DM) were associated with reduced physical functioning as assessed on the SF-36. Furthermore, individuals with DM exhibited a faster rate of decline in IADLs after a two year follow-up. Similarly, Kamper et al. (2005) found that the presence of DM at baseline was an independent risk factor for the reduction of IADLs when reassessed at a 3 year follow-up. Connelly et al. (2005) investigated the roles of white matter lesions and hypertension in the development of dysfunction in activities of daily living and found that while neither white matter lesions nor hypertension independently influenced functional outcome, there was an interaction between these variables. Patients with both white matter lesions and hypertension exhibited significant reductions in IADLs. A similar interaction between large white matter lesions and the presence of stroke on activities of daily living was found by (Berger et al. 2005). While large white matter lesions and stroke both independently resulted in significant reductions of ADLs and IADLs, the presence of both brain changes greatly increased this dysfunction.

1.7 Executive Functions

Many different factors have been proposed and investigated to explain the deficits in adaptive functioning that are exhibited in cases of dementia. The association between cognitive deficits and impairments in IADLs has been a primary area of focus while impairments due to physical impairments are not considered to be characteristic of dementia. A key area of investigation has involved the presence of executive functioning deficits in AD and their impact upon the ability to function adaptively.

The construct of executive functions refers to the ability to plan and conduct complex, goal oriented behaviors such as abstraction, sequencing, planning, inhibition, and regulation of ongoing activity (Miller, 2007). The emphasis on the control function of frontally-mediated activities in the neuropsychological context came from the observation that many people would score within the normal range on cognitive tests and yet were unable to successfully and independently behave in an independent and adaptive manner (Duke & Kaszniak, 2000). Given the origin of the concept of executive functions, assessing these abilities appears to be particularly important in understanding deficits in the ability to perform IADLs in AD. Lezak (2004) has broadly categorized executive functions into four components including: 1) volition; 2) planning; 3) purposive action; and 4) effective performance. While each of these areas represent specific and unique sets of skills and abilities, it is rare to have deficits in just one of the four components of executive functioning. Instead, a person may have deficits with multiple components of executive functioning with more serious deficits with respect to a particular component (Lezak, 2004). The presence of a particular type of executive functioning deficit rarely happens in isolation from other executive functioning deficits.

1.8 Executive Functioning and ADLs

Deficits in executive functions have recently been found to influence the presence and severity of impairments in IADLs. Executive dysfunction has a particularly strong affect on the IADLs, as opposed to BADLs due to their complex nature (Schindler, 2005). Boyle et al. (2003) investigated the roles of executive dysfunction and apathy as predictors of impairments in adaptive functioning in patients with mild to moderate AD. With respect to the more complex IADLs executive functions explained 17% of the variance in IADLs while apathy predicted an additional 27% of the variance. Executive functioning explained 28% of the variance in BADLs while apathy accounted for additional unique variance in BADLs. Executive functioning deficits have also been linked to impairments in IADLs in VaD patients (Jefferson, 2006; Boyle, 2004). Boyle et al. (2004) investigated the influence of subcortical neuropathology and executive functions predicted IADL levels at the time of a 1-year follow-up. Subcortical neuropathology did not predict IADLs.

It appears that decreases in abstract verbal reasoning are particularly relevant when trying to characterize cognitive deficits related to AD. These features of EF are some of the earliest cognitive deficits to appear in the progression of AD (Giovannetti et al., 2001) and are more frequently present during MCI in individuals who ultimately progress to develop AD.

1.9 Neuroanatomy of Executive Functioning

The frontal lobes are the last areas of the brain to mature during the course of development and have traditionally been seen as the source of the highest cognitive functions. Specifically, the frontal lobes have been regarded as the origin of processes responsible for the control of behavior and cognition. Although significant evidence implicates the involvement of the frontal lobes in executive functioning deficits, the strict localization of executive functioning skills within the frontal lobes has not held up to research (Duke, 2000; Miller, 2007). Lesions in the frontal lobes do not always lead to executive functioning deficits and lesions in other areas of the brain can also lead to the same executive functioning deficits. Recently, neuroanatomical models of executive functioning have developed in which various cortical and subcortical structures connect to form networks or circuits which are collectively responsible for producing executive functions. Damage to any part of this circuit may be responsible for executive dysfunction. Variability of symptom expression within a given syndrome may be the result of differences in the particular part of the network that is disrupted and whether multiple networks are disrupted by an insult or disease process.

Executive functioning deficits have been found in AD that represent each of the four areas of executive functioning conceptualized by Lezak (2004). In attempts to better understand the neuropathology of AD and how it relates to cognitive decline, researchers have focused on circuits which have been associated with particular executive functions. Alexander (1986) described five circuits in which specific cortical regions of the frontal lobes operate with subcortical regions in order to perform complex actions. In each of these circuits, the cortical areas both send output to and receive

input from the subcortical structures. Of the five circuits that Alexander (1986) originally identified, three have been associated with various aspects of executive functioning: 1) the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC); 2) the orbitofrontal cortex; and 3) the medial frontal cortex (Lichter, 2001).

The first of the frontal-subcortical circuits is the medial-frontal circuit originating in the anterior cingulate. Following the anterior cingulate, the pathway includes the ventromedial striatum, globus pallidus and substantia nigra, and the mediodorsal thalamus which projects back to the anterior cingulate. In addition to its connections with subcortical structures, the anterior cingulate has connections with the DLPFC. The medial-frontal cortex appears to be involved in the executive functions which Lezak (2004) categorized as functions of volition. Damage to the medial frontal circuit has been demonstrated to lead to apathy, lack of psychic and motor initiative, spontaneous movements, and response to commands (Tekin & Cummings, 2002). The orbitofrontal circuit involves the connection of the frontal monitoring systems with limbic structures. The pathway of this circuit originates in the orbitofrontal cortex and continues with the ventromedial caudate nucleus, the medial and dorsomedial globus pallidus, and the ventral and medial dorsal thalamic nuclei. The orbitofrontal cortex also has interconnections with the DLPFC, the temporal pole, and amygdala. The orbitofrontal subcortical circuit has been associated with social behavior and damage to this system could disrupt mood and lead to a reduction of self-directed action (Tekin & Cummings, 2002; Marin, 1997) as well as the increase in impulsivity and disinhibition (Cummings, 1995). The last circuit is the dorsolateral prefrontal circuit and projects from the DLPFC to the dorsolateral caudate nucleus, the lateral and dorsomedial globus pallidus and the

ventral and mediodorsal thalamic nuclei. The dorsolateral prefrontal circuit is crucially involved with executive functions and its dysfunction has been linked to decreased fluency, perseveration, difficulty shifting set, reduced mental control, limited abstraction ability and poor response inhibition (Cummings, 1995; Tekin & Cummings, 2002; Marin 1997).

While these three frontal subcortical circuits are most frequently linked to executive functions, other regions have been found to contribute. Damage to the right parietotemporal circuits may impact upon awareness of the emotional significance of events and information, resulting in failure to integrate emotional consequences into the planning or initiation of activities. Increases in prevalence of executive dysfunction throughout the course of the disease also have been predicted to have particular neuropathological explanations.

The structure of the frontal-subcortical circuits and their interconnections with each other have important implications for the impact of brain damage on executive functions. Small lesions can influence multiple circuits. On both the cortical and subcortical levels, the circuits are segregated anatomically but have functional connections to other cortical and subcortical regions outside of the circuit (Cummings, 2001). Despite being anatomically segregated, a small subcortical lesion can span multiple circuits due to their close proximity. A small lesion in cortical areas of the circuits might likewise have far reaching effects due to the interconnectedness of the frontal subcortical circuits. The DLPFC, for example, has connections with both the medial frontal cortex and the orbitofrontal cortex as well as functionally related subcortical structures. It is in the DLPFC that information about the external world is integrated with information about the individual's emotional and cognitive state in order to produce complex behaviors such as executive functioning (Duke et al., 2000). Evidence for the involvement of the frontal-subcortical structures in the presence of executive functioning deficits (e.g. concept formation, abstract verbal reasoning) in AD has come from both neuroanatomical and functional studies.

1.10 Effects of Vascular Risk Factors on Executive Functioning

Studies examining the role of vascular risk factors in normal aging and vascular dementia have repeatedly found an association with impairments in abilities that are regarded to be frontally mediated. Deficits in executive functions have been associated with the presence and severity of white matter hyperintensities (WMH) in a community sample (O'Brien et al., 2002) and in individuals with vascular dementia (Cohen et al., 2002). Verdelho et al. (2007) found deficits in executive functioning and attention related to both diabetes and hypertension. Systolic blood pressure lower than 120 mmHg has been associated with better performance on tests of fluency and flexibility (Oosterman et al., 2007).

Although AD and vascular dementia have traditionally been viewed as distinct diseases, more recent research has investigated the role of vascular risk factors in the onset and progression of AD. Scherder et al. (2007) has proposed a model in which gray and white matter degeneration resulting from ischaemic hypopefusion (i.e., deficient blood supply) and cerebrovascular disease leads to the disconnection of fronto-cortical and fronto-subcortical circuits and ultimately to impairments in executive functioning. The link between vascular risk factors and the degeneration of white and gray matter is supported by research (Roman et al., 2004) and researchers have begun to examine the link between vascular risk factors and executive functioning in AD. Goldstein et al. (2005) found that African American AD patients with Stage 3 hypertension performed worse than patients without hypertension on the conceptualization and Initiation/Perseveration subtests of the Mattis-Dementia Ratings Scale. In another study, Goldstein et al. (2008) found that having a greater number of vascular risk factors was associated with poorer performance on tasks of verbal reasoning and set shifting. Interestingly, the severity of the vascular risk factors was not associated with poorer performance.

1.11 Present Study

Alzheimer's disease is a progressive neurodegenerative condition that gradually impairs a patient's ability to perform day to day activities and to function independently. Neuropathological and cognitive changes and vascular risk factors associated with AD have been linked with functional impairment of patients with AD, but relationships among the variables have not been fully explored. The proposed study sought to quantify the effects of these variables on daily functioning and to identify the likely pathways through which they exert their influence. A better understanding of these variables and their interactions will assist in identifying those patients at increased risk for worse disease progression as well as suggesting means of targeting intervention to optimize functioning in AD patients.

1.12 Specific Aims

<u>Aim 1:</u> Investigate differences in white matter integrity and executive functioning between AD participants and healthy control participants

<u>Hypothesis 1:</u> Fractional anisotropy (FA) in the DLPFC will be lower in the AD group compared to controls.

<u>Hypothesis 2:</u> The AD group will score significantly lower on executive functioning (Similarities) compared to the control group.

<u>Aim 2:</u> Investigate the contribution of executive functioning ability in the prediction of IADLs and its potential as a mediator of the relationship between white matter integrity and IADLs.

<u>Hypothesis 1:</u> Worse white matter integrity as represented by lower fractional anisotropy within the DLPFC will be associated with worse IADLs.

<u>Hypothesis 2</u>: Worse executive functioning (Similarities) is expected to be associated with worse IADLs (Functional Activities Questionnaire).

<u>Hypothesis 3</u>: Executive Functioning (Similarities) is expected to mediate the relationship between White Matter integrity and activities of daily living.

<u>Aim 3:</u> Investigate the contribution of executive functioning ability in the prediction of adaptive function and its potential as a mediator of the relationship between vascular risk factors and adaptive functioning.

<u>Hypothesis 1:</u> The presence of greater numbers of vascular risk factors will be associated with increased impairment in IADLs.

<u>Hypothesis 2</u>: Worse executive functioning (Similarities) is expected to be associated with worse IADLs (Functional Activities Questionnaire).

<u>Hypothesis 3</u>: Executive Functioning (Similarities) is expected to mediate the relationship between the number of vascular risk factors and IADLs.

CHAPTER 2: METHOD

2.1 Participants

Data from 21 adults with Alzheimer's disease (AD) and 10 healthy aging adults were obtained for this study. Medical records for each potential participant were reviewed to identify details of their medical history in order to determine whether they meet inclusion or exclusionary criteria for participation in the proposed study. Patients and controls with metabolic diseases that can affect cognition, a history of seizures, current addiction or the presence of a pacemaker were excluded from the study. Vision and hearing were screened and participants with deficits that remained after remediation (corrective lenses, hearing aides) were omitted from the study. Participants were included in the AD group if they met the criteria set forth by the National Institute of Neurologic and Communicative Disorders (McKhann et al., 1984). Specifically, inclusion in the AD group required that 1) dementia had been established based upon neuropsychological testing and clinical evaluation, 2) cognitive deficits occurred in at least two or more areas of functioning and were progressive in nature, 3) the onset of the symptoms occurred between the ages of 40 and 90 and the participant did not have any additional medical conditions or diseases which could account for the impairments in cognitive functioning. Participants were included in the healthy control group based

upon the absence of neurological diseases including stroke, neurodegenerative disease, head injury or addiction. Controls did not meet the criteria for the AD group.

Initially, 24 AD and 14 control participants were recruited tested and received diffusion tensor imaging as part of their participation in the study. Of these participants, all 24 of the AD participants met the criteria of the National Institute of Neurologic and Communicative Disorders and all other requirements. The 14 control participants likewise met all inclusion criteria. During data cleaning and analyses of the DTI data, the data from five participants (2AD; 3 control) were excluded due to artifact on the images. An additional 2 participants (1 AD; 1 control) were missing data needed in the current study and were omitted from analysis. Following exclusions due to DTI artifact and missing data, the data for 21 AD participants and 10 control participants were included in the study.

2.2 Measures

The neuropsychological data for the proposed research were obtained from data collected for a larger research program conducted through Wesley Woods Geriatric Hospital. As part of that study, participants completed a large battery of tests including the Dementia Screening Battery from the Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD; Morris et al., 1989). The CERAD includes the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE; Folstein et al., 1975); a test of semantic fluency; a 15-item version of the Boston Naming Test (Kaplan et al., 1983); Constructional Praxis requiring the drawing of four distinct geometric figures; a three trial, 10 word list learning task; a delayed recall memory task for the ten item word list; and a word list recognition

task. Participants were also given Digit Span (Wechsler, 1997), Similarities, the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (Heaton, 1981), verbal fluency-animals, Trail Making Test and the Neuropsychiatric Inventory (Cummings et al., 1994).

2.2.1 Activities of Daily Living

The Functional Activities Questionnaire (FAQ; Pfeffer et al., 1982, Pfeffer et al., 1984) was created to assess the ability to independently perform activities of daily living in normal aging and dementia. The scale was designed to include a range of activities that are universal to all older adults in order to limit the possible confounding influence of intelligence, level of education, and socioeconomic status. The FAQ (Pfeffer et al., 1982) consists of ten items that assess instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs) such as the ability to manage finances, prepare meals, perform household tasks, and travel independently. For each of the items on the FAQ, a family member or caregiver assesses the patient's ability to perform the activity independently. Ratings are based on a four point scale with three indicating significant dependence on others and zero indicating independence. Summary scores can range from 0 to 30.

Prior to the introduction of the FAQ, the established questionnaire for assessing the ability to function independently was the Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Scale (Lawton et al., 1969). The FAQ correlated .72 with the Lawton IADL Scale and was more strongly correlated with mental status than the IADL scale. The difference in correlations with mental status may reflect a greater reliance on physical capacity when determining functional ability in the IADL scale (McDowell et al., 1996). Item-total correlations were greater than 0.80 for each of the items for the scale. Test-retest reliability was 0.97.

The assessment of activities of daily living was limited to instrumental activities of daily living requiring the ability to perform more complex, social activities. The present study investigated the impact of executive functioning on activities of daily living in individuals with mild to moderate AD. The decision to limit the investigation to IADLs reflects the more complex nature of IADLs when compared to the more basic self-care skills required to perform ADLs. Furthermore, the sample of AD participants were limited to individuals with mild to moderate stages of the disease in which deficits in ADLs may not be as severely affected. Lastly, the form of the FAQ that was administered as part of the project was limited to IADLs. Additional information on ADLs is available from the Lawton Activities of Daily Living Scale, however, this scale is affected by a greater dependence of physical capacity as indicated above (McDowell et al., 1996).

2.2.2 Attention

The Digit Span-forward subtest of the of the Wechsler Memory Scale-III (WMS-III) was administered as a test of attention span. In this test, the test administrator reads a sequence of numbers at a rate of one per second that the participant must repeat back to the administrator after the sequence has been completed. The number sequences begin at two numbers and increase to nine numbers if the participant successfully repeats letter sequences of increasing length. Raw scores were used for analysis and range from 0 to 16. Attention span has been found to be resistant to performance declines in AD (Wilson et al., 1996) particularly in the early milder stage (Storandt et al., 1984). Testretest reliability for the digit span subtest decreases with increasing age and was .89 for individuals aged 55-74 and .83 for individuals aged 75 to 89.

2.2.3 Executive Functioning

The Similarities test was included as a measure of abstract verbal reasoning. The test has been found to be independent of memory abilities making it ideal for working with AD in which memory is one of the primary areas of deficit. Many tests of executive functioning involve timed tasks with a motor skills component. This can be problematic for an AD population and healthy controls, as processing speed and motor skills may both be diminished in these populations. As an untimed task that does not require significant motor skills, the Similarities test is a better fit for the aging and AD populations. Furthermore, the Similarities subtest has been associated with increased activity in the frontal areas of the brain (Duke, 2000). Performance on Similarities has been associated with dementia such that lower scores are predictive of the onset of AD. Others researchers have failed to find reductions in Similarities ranged from .70 to .80 in a group of adults 75 years or older when testing delays occurred in one month intervals.

2.2.4 Vascular Risk Factors

In order to examine relationships between vascular risk factors, EF and IADLs, the presence of four vascular risk factors (hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, cardiac disease, and diabetes mellitus) were assessed and included in analyses. Selection of vascular risk factors was informed by previous research suggesting that they are prevalent in the aging population, risk factors for white matter disease, and associated with impairments in EF. A binary score for the presence (1) or absence (0) of each of the vascular risk factors was assessed and summed to create a summary variable of vascular risk factors (0-4).

<u>Hypertension</u>- Participants interacted with the nurse for a minimum of 30 minutes prior to blood pressure measurement to limit elevations due to anxiety. Average blood pressure was determined from two separate readings separated by two minutes. If the values of the two readings differed by 5 mm Hg of higher, additional measurements were obtained. A participant was determined to have hypertension if their systolic blood pressure was 140 mm Hg or higher, diastolic blood pressure was 90 mm Hg or higher, or if they were taking antihypertensive medication.

<u>Hypercholesterolemia</u>- Participants were required to fast for a minimum of 8 hours prior to having their cholesterol profile assessed. Participants were determined to have hypercholesterolemia if their total cholesterol level was 240 mg/dl or greater, or if they were taking medication to lower cholesterol.

<u>Cardiac Disease</u>- A board certified cardiologist examined the results of a 12-lead electrocardiogram to diagnose cardiac disease. Participants with abnormal EEG (e.g.

atrial fibrillation) or those who were taking cardiac medication were defined as having cardiac disease.

<u>Diabetes Mellitus</u>- Blood samples were taken from participants following an 8 hour fasting period to assess blood glucose levels. Participants with a fasting glucose of 126 mg/dl or higher or who were taking insulin or hypoglycemic treatments were defined as having Diabetes Mellitus.

2.2.5 Diffusion Tensor Imaging

Diffusion Tensor Imaging was used to assess potential microstructural changes in frontal white matter that may contribute to the disease processes in AD, in general, and explore potential neuropathological changes associated specifically with executive functioning in AD. As described above, executive functions are linked to the dorsolateral prefrontal circuit, orbitofrontal circuit, and the medial frontal circuit and each of these circuits has interconnections with other brain regions. The dorsolateral prefrontal circuit, however, appears to be in a unique neuroanatomical position in that it has interconnections with each of the other two circuits and plays a role in integrating information from these circuits in order to produce executive functions. White matter integrity of the DLPFC was examined given the association between activity in this region and executive functioning. Furthermore, according to the retrogenesis hypothesis of AD, the DLPFC should be among the first brain regions to degenerate because it was the last to undergo myelination during development. Given the retrogenesis hypothesis indicating anterior to posterior white matter degradation in cortical structures, white matter within the primary visual cortex was assessed as a control region.

23

The data obtained in a diffusion weighted scan can be represented in several different indices of diffusion. Two of the indices most commonly used are mean diffusivity (MD) and fractional anisotropy (FA). MD is a measure that calculates the overall diffusion within a structure and provides important information about the structural integrity of a given region. As with MD, FA values provide information about the magnitude of water diffusion, but also convey information about the direction of water diffusion. The choice of which coefficient to use depends upon the research question and which areas of the brain will be examined (Mori, 2007). For instance, although gray matter and white matter are both highly structured tissue types, white matter is also organized in such a way that the fibers that make up the track are organized consistently such that water diffusion is restricted in particular directions. Within white matter tracts, researchers may wish to know about more than the overall level of diffusion and rely upon the added directional information that comes from FA measurements. White matter within the brain represents important pathways for the transmission of information and communication between regions of a network and FA values can be seen as an index of the health of these pathways. When the white matter of a particular region is affected by an insult, the coherences of the fiber organization can be reduced, theoretically resulting in the impaired efficiency of the transmission of information through these fibers.

Region of interest (ROI) analyses were used to calculate fractional anisotropy (FA) within a prescribed anatomical region within each participant. The degree of accuracy attained in ROI analyses depends upon both the size of ROI drawn and the choice of image upon which the ROIs are drawn. Large ROIs reduce the noise of a measurement, while small ROIs reduce the risk of error by minimizing the inclusion of multiple tissue values (partial volume effects). Given that controlling partial volume effects is particularly important for measurements of anisotropy and the direction of diffusivity is of particular interest in the present study, a small region of interest measuring 48 pixels was employed for analysis. Because drawing ROIs on maps of interest (such as an FA map) can introduce bias into the process of ROI placement, raters drew ROIs on standardized structural T1 images. T1 weighted images provide the clearest image of structures while diffusion maps are typically distorted and it is not possible to completely align them with conventional scans. T1 weighted images and diffusion weighted images were both transformed into Talairach space to allow for direction comparison of participant data and to assist in guiding the placement of ROIs to correspond to the DLPFC. Raters hand drew ROIs using Talairach coordinates (Y: 39-42; Z:31-33) to verify correct placement of 16 voxel ROIs place on 3 consecutive ROIs. ROI placement corresponded with the Superior Frontal Gyrus within Brodman area 9.

Table 1. Scanning Parameters

Parameter	Diffusion weighted	T1 high contrast
Scanning Seq.	Echo Planar	Gradient Recalled/Inversion Rec
FoV	2048*2048	240*256
Slice Thickness	2 mm	1.2 mm
Repetition time	8700 ms	2300 ms
Echo time	93 ms	2.91 ms
Inversion time	N/A	900 ms
Diffusion directions	20	NA

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

3.1 Participants

Demographic variables were analyzed with t-tests to determine possible confounding variables. Analyses revealed significantly older age in the AD participants, t(29)=3.23, p=.03, and significantly higher level of education in the control group, t(29)=-3.54, p=.01. Furthermore, age and education were significantly related to IADLs and Similarities performance scores. Age and education were included as covariates in further analyses. See Table 2.

3.2.1 Group differences in white matter integrity.

To identify hypothesized group differences in prefrontal white matter integrity, mean FA values were obtained from the left and right DLPFC. Mean FA values from the left and right primary visual cortex served as a control region. The mean FA values of each region between the AD and control group were compared using univariate analysis of variance (ANCOVA) with age and education entered as covariates. As predicted, the AD group demonstrated significantly lower FA in the left DLPFC, F(3, 26) =3.46, *p*= .03. Lower FA in the AD group approached significance in the right DLPFC, F(3, 26)=2.65, *p*=.07. Despite lower WMI in the AD group in the DLPFC, there were no significant differences in the FA values between the groups in the left, F(3, 26) =1.52, *p*= .37, or right, F(3, 26) =1.63, *p*= .32, primary visual cortex.

3.2.2 Group differences in executive functioning.

In order to verify group differences between the AD and control groups, mean scores for Similarities were computed for each group. Given previous research indicating relatively intact attention in AD, mean digit span forward scores were computed to serve as a control variable. Mean scores of executive functioning and attention were compared using ANCOVA with age and education entered as covariates. The t-tests indicated significantly lower Similarities scores in the AD group when compared to the control group, F (3, 26)= 4.85, p<.001, providing support for the hypothesis. Although Digit Span forward scores were not expected to differ between

groups, a comparison of these scores approached significance, t(3, 26)=2.314, *p*=.09, with AD showing a trend toward lower performance.

3.3 Aim 2: Relationship between WMI, EF, and IADLs

3.3.1 Relationship between EF and IADLs.

In order to test the hypothesis that executive functioning abilities are positively associated with the ability to perform IADLs, IADLs were regressed upon Similarities scores. Members of the AD and control groups were combined to assure adequate sample size and variability in scores. Executive functioning ability was a significant predictor of IADLs, B= -1.10, p<.001, as expected. A regression was also performed with IADLs regressed on digit span forward (attention) to serve as a comparison task. Attention has previously been found to be relatively stable in AD, and digit span did not significantly predict IADLs, B=-.65, p=.10.

Measure	Mean	SD	В	p (one-tailed)	R2
Age (years) AD Control	75.7 67.8	6.10 6.76	.14	.367	.30
Education (years) AD Control	12.9 17.0	3.23 2.54	40	.015	.33
Similarities AD Control	11.1 24.5	6.47 3.33	-1.10	.000	.58

Table 2. Relationship between EF and IADLs

3.3.2 Relationship between WMI and EF.

In order to test the hypothesis that WMI within the DLPFC is positively associated with EF, Similarities scores were regressed upon mean FA of the DLPFC. Fractional Anisotropy within the right DLPFC was found to be a significant predictor of executive functioning ability, B= 82.9, p=.003. The ability of FA within the left DLPFC to predict EF approached significance, B=40.9, p=.065. In order to assess the specificity of FA differences between the AD and control group, EF was also regressed upon FA within the left and right primary visual cortex. The relationship between the FA in the primary visual cortex and EF was nonsignificant for both the left, B= 20.4, p=.47, and right, B= 27.8, p=.30 hemispheres.

3.3.3 EF as a mediator of the relationship between WMI and IADLs

Mediational analyses employing bootstrapping (Preacher and Hayes, 2004) were conducted to test our hypotheses that executive functioning would mediate the relationship between white matter integrity (FA) and IADLs (Figure 1). The indirect pathway indicating a mediational role for executive functioning was significant (B=-51.3, CI: -133.6- -5.7) for the right DLPFC, but not the left DLPFC (B=-23.7, CI: -67.5- -8.3). In the right DLPFC, after accounting for the indirect pathway, the direct pathway from FA to IADLs was no longer significant indicating full mediation. Mediational analyses were not performed for the right and left PVC as the PVC was not found to be a significant predictor of EF in the previous step.

В	p (one-tailed)	R2	
.14	.367	.30	
40	.015	.33	
43	.005	.47	
32	.041	.45	
	B .14 40 43 32	B p (one-tailed) .14 .367 40 .015 43 .005 32 .041	B p (one-tailed) R2 .14 .367 .30 40 .015 .33 43 .005 .47 32 .041 .45

Table 3. Relationship between WMI and IADI
--



Figure 1. Mediational model examining executive functioning as a mediator of the relationship between white matter integrity in the DLPFC and IADLs.

Functional Asessment	Effect of	Effect of M on DV	f Total	Direct	В	<u>BCa 9</u>	<u>5% CI</u>
(DV)	(<i>a</i>)	(<i>b</i>)	(<i>C</i>)	(c')		Lower	Upper
Right Hemisphere DLPFC	61.26**	84**	-103.02**	-51.72	.761	-133.65	-5.74
Left Hemisphere DLPFC	24.70	96**	-58.03*	-34.32	.761	-67.53	8.26

Table 4. EF as a mediator of the relationship between WMI and IADLs

3.4 Aim 3: Relationship between vascular risk factors, EF, and IADLs

3.4.1 Relationship between EF and IADLs.

In order to test the hypothesis that executive functioning abilities are positively associated with the ability to perform IADLs, IADLS were regressed upon Similarities scores. Members of the AD and control groups were combined to assure adequate sample size and variability in scores. Executive functioning ability was a significant predictor of IADLs, B= -.84, p=.011, as expected.

Relationship between vascular risk factors and IADLs.

In order to test the hypothesis that vascular risk factors are positively associated with IADLs, IADLs total scores were regressed upon number of vascular risk factors. Vascular risk factor count was not found to be a significant predictor of ability to perform IADLs, B= -5.7, p=.784.

3.4.2 EF as a mediator of the relationship between vascular risk factors and IADLs.

As the previous analyses established no relationship between vascular risk factors and IADLs, further mediational analyses were not warranted. A regression analyses found that vascular risk factor count did not predict EF, B=-1.19, p=.277.



Figure 2. Mediational model examining executive functioning as a mediator of the relationship between vascular risk factors and IADLs.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

4.1 Group Comparisons

Prior to investigating relationships among WMI, executive functioning and adaptive functioning in individuals with AD and healthy controls, initial analyses focused on differences in these variables between these groups. The cognitive differences between AD and normally aging adults have been more extensively studied and there is a broader consensus on the types of impairments that are to be expected in the AD group. There is less consensus, however, on differences in brain structure and function related to the disease process. This lack of consensus may be due, in part, to the limitations of the technologies used to probe these questions. Newer technologies, such as DTI, may provide a more sensitive tool for exploring these questions and researchers have recently begun to use DTI to examine differences in the microstructure between individuals with AD and healthy controls. Between group comparisons were made to confirm established differences in cognitive abilities, and to better understand potential differences in brain microstructure.

4.1.1 Covariates

Examination of the demographic variables revealed that, despite efforts to match participants on key variables, age and education were significantly different between the AD group and healthy controls. Given previous research and theoretical considerations, it was expected that WMI, cognitive abilities, and IADLs would be influenced by different levels of these variables. There is evidence, for instance, that WMI of the prefrontal cortex and cognitive abilities decline with advancing age even in normally aging individuals. The retrogenesis hypothesis describes anterior to posterior demyelination as part of the normal aging process that merely advances more rapidly in AD. Additionally, higher levels of education have been associated with better cognitive abilities and ability to perform IADLs. Analyses revealed that older age and lower education level were both associated with worse EF and IADLs. For this reason, age and education were entered as covariates in further analyses in order to identify additional group differences not related to these variables.

4.1.2 Group Differences in Executive Functioning

The results of this study provide additional support for the presence of executive functioning deficits as a component of the disease process of AD. Individuals with AD obtained significantly lower scores on the Similarities subtest when compared to healthy controls indicating diminished abstract verbal reasoning skills.

As discussed above, the nature of executive functioning deficits in individuals with AD remains somewhat unclear. Executive functions refers to a broad range of higher ordered skills falling broadly within the categories of volition, planning, purposive action, and effective performance (Lezak, 1995). Furthermore, different executive functions may be more strongly associated with particular cortical areas. Given differences in skills defined as executive functions and differences in associated brain regions, a theoretical foundation for the selection of variables for investigation is crucial. The retrogenesis hypothesis of brain degeneration in AD provided the theoretical framework that informed the selection of abstract verbal reasoning as the executive function of interest. Based upon the assumptions of the retrogenesis hypothesis, cognitive abilities in those areas myelinated last during development would be most likely to be susceptible to impairment. The DLPFC is the last to be myelinated and is associated with several executive functions associated with planning and abstraction. The Similarities test taps into the process of abstract verbal reasoning that has been previously tied to the DLPFC. Furthermore, while the DLPFC is associated with other important executive functioning tasks, Similarities (abstract verbal reasoning) is not confounded by processing speed which is common in other EF tasks. Differences in Similarities suggests deficits in abstract verbal reasoning in individuals with AD.

4.1.3 Group differences in WMI

In order to better understand potential differences in brain structure between individuals with AD and healthy controls, DTI was used to obtain a measurement of WMI within the left and right DLPFC and the left and right pvc. Significantly lower WMI was found in the left and right DLPFC of the AD group when compared to the healthy controls. No significant differences were found in the WMI of the pvc between these groups. These findings are consistent with the initial hypothesis of lower WMI in the prefrontal cortex in AD. As described above, the nature of structural differences remains an area of debate among researchers with some finding significantly lower WMI in the frontal lobe in AD (Naggara, et al., 2006; Duan et al., 2006; Choi et al., 2005) and others finding no significant differences (Head et al., 2004; Fellgiebel et al, 2004). While the present study cannot resolve this debate, the findings provide additional, compelling evidence for differences in frontal white matter in individuals with AD.

The rationale for the hypothesis of lower WMI in AD was built upon theory and previous empirical evidence. The retrogenesis hypothesis provides a theory of the pathological process of white matter in AD such that the process of human brain development is reversed. Specifically, this theory predicts that the disease process of AD reverses the process of myelinization, such that the areas that were myelinated last in development are the first to lose white matter in AD. In trying to identify differences between AD and healthy controls, therefore, it would be most appropriate to target the areas that were last to be myelinated in childhood because, according to this theory, differences would be most likely to be found in these areas. The previous studies investigating potential differences in white matter in AD did not, however, consistently investigate regions of interest in line with this consideration. Additionally, the specificity with which the ROIs were drawn varied considerable between studies. It is noteworthy that the studies that previously found significant differences in frontal white matter in AD tended to have more anterior ROIs (Choi et al., 2005; Naggara et. al, 2006) while the studies that found no significant differences were more posterior (Head et al., 2004). The ROI within the present study, however, was selected based upon the retrogenesis hypothesis such that it would provide the most sensitive indicator of differences in WMI. ROIs were drawn in the DLPFC as this area is the last to become myelinated and the first to be affected according to the retrogenesis hypothesis. That the current study found differences in WMI where other studies failed to do so suggests that future studies investigating WMI in AD should more carefully choose ROIs based upon theoretical considerations.

4.2 Relationship between WMI, EF, and IADLs

The group comparisons provide a description of two groups characterized by significant differences in EF abilities and the white matter integrity of the DLPFC associated with those abilities. Previous research has linked both EF and white matter changes to the ability to perform IADLs, but the current study extends research by providing an explanation of the relationships among anatomy, cognition and functioning.

4.2.1 Relationship between EF and IADLs

The ability to perform more difficult day to day tasks (IADLS: e.g., playing a game of skill, working on a hobby; paying attention to, understanding, discussing television, or books) diminishes in both normal aging and AD, although individuals with AD experience such declines more severely and more rapidly. Significant diminishment or loss of function in these day to day tasks can cause significant life disruptions and may eventually necessitate significant homecare or placement in a nursing home. Given the impact of impaired daily functioning on people's lives, many researchers have investigated the role of various cognitive functions on IADLs. IADLs were selected for the current study due to the more complex nature of the activities which necessitate the use of planning, organizing, and initiating skills categorized as EF. As predicted, the results of the current study demonstrate that EF (abstract verbal reasoning) significantly predicts the ability to perform IADLs.

4.2.2 Relationship between WMI and EF

In addition to establishing that EF can predict an individual's ability to perform IADLS, the present study provides evidence that WMI within the DLPFC are associated with EF, such that lower WMI predicts worse IADLs. Based upon the retrogenesis theory, these findings suggest that a progressive, degenerative process of demyelination occurs in individuals with AD and the deterioration of these brain areas results in diminished cognitive abilities associated with that region. The white matter of the DLPFC begins to lose its structure and fiber organization through the disease process and diminished EF (abstract verbal reasoning) skills result. 4.2.3 EF as a mediator of the relationship between WMI and IADLs

The mediation model (Figure 1) was proposed to explain the apparent close relationships among WMI, EF, and IADLs found previously in the literature. Because the retrogenesis theory proposes that a natural disease process occurs that follows a specific pattern, WMI was selected as the independent variable in the relationship. As IADLs are our dependent variable, EF was hypothesized to mediate the relationship between WMI and IADLs. The findings of the current study provide compelling evidence that the ability to complete IADLs is associated with the degree of WMI as mediated through EF. More specifically, EF fully mediated the relationship between WMI and IADLs, indicating that all of the predictive power of WMI is accounted for by EF.

As discussed previously, the careful selection of variables based upon prior research and theory likely played an important role in the ability to identify major group differences in cognition and brain microstructure and a mediational model resulting in full mediation. Nevertheless, some caution should be exercised in interpreting these results. These results suggest that all of the variability in IADLs within the DLPFC are accounted for by performance on the Similarities subtest (abstract verbal reasoning) but does not necessarily mean that other cognitive variables or brain regions are unimportant in the ability to perform IADLs. It may be that other brain regions are crucial for other cognitive abilities and could account for additional variability in IADLs.

4.3 Relationship between vascular risk factors, EF, and IADLs

Underlying the current research is the hypothesis that differences in WMI of the prefrontal cortex are reflected in EF ability and the ability to perform IADLs. As previous research has suggested that white matter changes frequently accompany vascular disease (Roman et al., 2004) and have been associated with activities of daily living (Kamper et al., 2005; Connelly et al 2005), the number of vascular risk factors (hypercholesterolemia, diabetes, high blood pressure, cardiac disease) present was compiled and used to investigate the possible relationship of vascular risk factors with EF and IADLs. In contrast to the hypotheses, vascular risk factor count was not significantly associated with either IADLs or EF.

These results were unexpected, particularly as they relate to the inability to establish a relationship between abstract verbal reasoning and vascular risk factors. Vascular risk factors have been associated with reduced abstract verbal reasoning in healthy individuals (Elias et al., 2005). The presence of vascular risk factors also appears to be associated with greater EF deficits in individuals with AD compared to AD patients without vascular risk factors (Goldstein et al., 2005). Furthermore, the presence of vascular risk factors have been associated with more likely conversion to AD and more rapid disease progression suggesting that the current research would have likely found a relationship between the presence of vascular risk factors and IADLs. Although the selection and measurement of vascular risk factors was informed by previous studies, it should be noted that there is some variability with respect to how this variable was selected and measured in other studies. Many studies selected individual vascular risk factors (Robbins et al., 2005) or measured them on a continuous scale (Elias et al., 2005). Although our data included participants at each level of vascular risk (0-4 risk factors: AD 0-4; Control 0-3), this variable has a limited range compared to other continuous indices of vascular risk (e.g. blood pressure). Using variables on a continuous scale allows for more variability that may be obscured when vascular risk factors are compiled as a count of different risks. Perhaps this added variability might allow for the detection of an association between vascular risk factors and EF or IADLs although some researchers have found the opposite to be the case (Goldstein et al., 2008). For example, it may warrant weighting of different risk factors (e.g. hypertension, diabetes) over other risk factors. Although there is significant evidence linking vascular risk factors to increased EF impairment in both AD and healthy controls, not all researchers have found this to be the case (Hayden et al., 2006).

4.4 Limitations of the Study

The current study adds to the literature by using powerful neuroimaging and statistical methods together to identify relationships between the microstructure of the brain, cognitive abilities and adaptive functioning. DTI, in particular, allows researchers to obtain information about the structure of the brain that would otherwise be inaccessible. Neverthess, due to the expense and difficulty of obtaining data, studies using neuroimaging frequently involve fewer participants. Additionally, mediational models require larger numbers of participants to obtain the power necessary to detect real relationships between variables. Although 30 participants represents a sizable sample when compared to most neuroimaging studies, it is a smaller sample with

respect to mediational studies and additional participants could increase confidence in the current findings. Additionally, a larger number of participants could allow for moderated mediation that could test for differences between groups in the relationships among WMI, EF, and IADLs. That said, there appears to be sufficient power to detect relationships among EF, IADLs, and WMI. Given the limitations associated with collecting neuroimaging data, however, it seems unlikely that such research will be feasible in the foreseeable future.

Although the retrogenesis hypothesis informed the current research and the results appear consist with the theory, the current study was not designed in such a way that allowed for a true test of the theory or any other theory of degeneration. The current study was cross sectional and did not take into account differing severities of dementia, therefore it is not reasonable to draw conclusions regarding anterior to posterior progress of degeneration in AD or normal aging according to the theory. Additionally, ROIs were limited to the DLPFC and the pvc in the current study and a better understanding of the degenerative process would require ROIs in additional regions for a more comprehensive understanding of the process. Nevertheless, the results of the current study were able to identify key differences in the microstructure of the DLPFC between AD and healthy controls using the retrogenesis hypothesis to guide ROI selection.

4.5 Future Directions

Some of the limitations mentioned above could potentially be addressed by future research. While challenging, research employing a longitudinal design and a

mediational model such as the one described in the current paper could provide a wealth of information regarding the process of neurodegeneration and how that relates specifically to cognition and functional outcome. The current study demonstrates that it is possible to delineate a specific relationship leading from neuroanatomy to cognition and finally to functional abilities. Adding an understanding of how these processes evolve over time could have important implications for treatments that might allow individuals to optimize their level of functioning. Despite the obvious benefit of such a research project, clear obstacles to such research would include the difficulty of obtaining sufficient neuroimaging data and limiting loss of subjects over time. For that reason, cross sectional designs that include degree of dementia as a variable could also provide important clues regarding the process of neurodegeneration and how it relates to cognition and IADLs.

While the current study examined WMI within a small area of the DLPFC and treated it as an isolated structure, future studies could look at white matter pathways connecting significant brain areas in an effort to better understand the process of degeneration. In other words, the research could focus more on networks and connections that might be susceptible to degeneration and attempt to understand how they are related to cognition and adaptive functioning. Given the relationship established between WMI in the DLPFC and executive functioning/ IADLs in the current study, future research could use tractography originating with the DLPFC as a starting point.

In general, the current study has important implications for future research. Specifically, it demonstrates that it is possible to detect small differences in brain microstructure and to outline a specific relationship leading from neuroanatomy to cognition and ultimately, ability to perform day to day functioning. As such, other researchers can be encouraged to employ mediational models in their own research. Clinically, it is hoped that this research and future research using the same methodology, may provide important clues for targeted treatment interventions. A better understanding of the neurodegenerative process and related cognitive decline may assist in earlier identification of the disease and implementation of treatment with the ultimate goal of limiting the impact of the disease on the patient's functioning.

REFERENCES

- Aboitiz, F., Rodriguez, E., Olivares, R., & Zaidel, E. (1996). Age-related changes in fibre composition of the human corpus callosum: sex differences. *Neuroreport, 7*(11), 1761-1764.
- Alexander, G. E., DeLong, M. R., & Strick, P. L. (1986). Parallel organization of functionally segregated circuits linking basal ganglia and cortex. *Annu Rev Neurosci, 9*, 357-381.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2003). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (Revised 4th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- Apostolova, L. G., Akopyan, G. G., Partiali, N., Steiner, C. A., Dutton, R. A., Hayashi, K.
 M., et al. (2007). Structural correlates of apathy in Alzheimer's disease. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*, *24*(2), 91-97.
- Basser, P. J. (1995). Inferring microstructural features and the physiological state of tissues from diffusion-weighted images. *NMR Biomed, 8*(7-8), 333-344.
- Benoit, M., Clairet, S., Koulibaly, P. M., Darcourt, J., & Robert, P. H. (2004). Brain perfusion correlates of the apathy inventory dimensions of Alzheimer's disease.
 Int J Geriatr Psychiatry, 19(9), 864-869.
- Berger, K., Roesler, A., & Kretzschmar, K. (2005). The association between white matter lesions, stroke and activities of daily living--the MEMO study on the KORA platform Augsburg. *Gesundheitswesen, 67 Suppl 1*, S172-175.
- Boyle, P. A., Malloy, P. F., Salloway, S., Cahn-Weiner, D. A., Cohen, R., & Cummings,
 J. L. (2003). Executive dysfunction and apathy predict functional impairment in
 Alzheimer disease. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*, *11*(2), 214-221.

- Boyle, P. A., Paul, R. H., Moser, D. J., & Cohen, R. A. (2004). Executive impairments predict functional declines in vascular dementia. *Clin Neuropsychol, 18*(1), 75-82.
- Choi, S. J., Lim, K. O., Monteiro, I., & Reisberg, B. (2005). Diffusion tensor imaging of frontal white matter microstructure in early Alzheimer's disease: a preliminary study. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol, 18(1), 12-19.
- Cohen, R. A., Paul, R. H., Ott, B. R., Moser, D. J., Zawacki, T. M., Stone, W., et al.
 (2002). The relationship of subcortical MRI hyperintensities and brain volume to cognitive function in vascular dementia. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 8*(6), 743-752.
- Connelly, P. J., Prentice, N. P., & Fowler, K. G. (2005). Hypertension, white matter change and response to cholinesterase inhibitors in Alzheimer's disease. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, *20*(7), 623-628.
- Courchesne, E., Chisum, H. J., Townsend, J., Cowles, A., Covington, J., Egaas, B., et al. (2000). Normal brain development and aging: quantitative analysis at in vivo MR imaging in healthy volunteers. *Radiology, 216*(3), 672-682.
- Craig, A. H., Cummings, J. L., Fairbanks, L., Itti, L., Miller, B. L., Li, J., et al. (1996). Cerebral blood flow correlates of apathy in Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol, 53*(11), 1116-1120.
- Cummings, J. L., M. Mega, et al. (1994). The Neuropsychiatric Inventory Comprehensive Assessment of Psychopathology in Dementia. *Neurology 44*(12): 2308-2314.
- Cummings, J. L. (1995). Anatomic and behavioral aspects of frontal-subcortical circuits. *Structure and Functions of the Human Prefrontal Cortex* 769: 1-13.

Cummings, J. L. and S. McPherson (2001). Neuropsychiatric assessment of

Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. *Aging-Clinical and Experimental Research 13(3):* 240-246.

- de Leon, M. J., de Leon, M. J., George, A. E., Golomb, J., Tarshish, C., Convit, A., et al. (1997). Frequency of hippocampal formation atrophy ini normal aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging, 18*(1), 1.
- DeCarli, C. (2001). The role of neuroimaging in dementia. *Clin Geriatr Med, 17*(2), 255-279.
- DeCarli, C., Miller, B. L., Swan, G. E., Reed, T., Wolf, P. A., & Carmelli, D. (2001).
 Cerebrovascular and brain morphologic correlates of mild cognitive impairment in the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Twin Study. *Arch Neurol, 58*(4), 643-647.
- Devanand, D. P., Brockington, C. D., Moody, B. J., Brown, R. P., Mayeux, R., Endicott, J., et al. (1992). Behavioral syndromes in Alzheimer's disease. *Int Psychogeriatr, 4 Suppl 2*, 161-184.
- Duan, J. H., Wang, H. Q., Xu, J., Lin, X., Chen, S. Q., Kang, Z., et al. (2006). White matter damage of patients with Alzheimer's disease correlated with the decreased cognitive function. *Surg Radiol Anat*, *28*(2), 150-156.
- Duffy, J. D., & Kant, R. (1997). Apathy secondary to neurologic disease. *Psychiatric Annals, 27*(1), 39-43
- Duke, L. M., & Kaszniak, A. W. (2000). Executive control functions in degenerative dementias: A comparative review. *Neuropsychology Review, 10*(2), 75-99.
- Elias, M. F., P. K. Elias, et al. (2005). Obesity, diabetes and cognitive deficit: The Framingham Heart Study. *Neurobiology of Aging 26*, S11-S16.

- Fellgiebel, A., Dellani, P. R., Greverus, D., Scheurich, A., Stoeter, P., & Muller, M. J. (2006). Predicting conversion to dementia in mild cognitive impairment by volumetric and diffusivity measurements of the hippocampus. *Psychiatry Res, 146*(3), 283-287.
- Fellgiebel, A., Wille, P., Muller, M. J., Winterer, G., Scheurich, A., Vucurevic, G., et al. (2004). Ultrastructural hippocampal and white matter alterations in mild cognitive impairment: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord, 18*(1), 101-108.
- Folstein, M. F., S. E. Folstein, et al. (1975). Mini-mental state. A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician." *J Psychiatr Res* 12(3): 189-198.
- Freels, S., Cohen, D., Eisdorfer, C., Paveza, G., Gorelick, P., Luchins, D. J., et al. (1992). Functional status and clinical findings in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *J Gerontol*, 47(6), M177-182.
- Gilley, D. W., Wilson, R. S., Bennett, D. A., Bernard, B. A., & Fox, J. H. (1991).
 Predictors of behavioral disturbance in Alzheimer's disease. *J Gerontol, 46*(6), P362-371.
- Giovannetti, T., M. Lamar, et al. (2001). Different underlying mechanisms for deficits in concept formation in dementia. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology 16*(6): 547-560.
- Goldstein, F.C., Ashley, A.V., Endeshaw, Y.W., Hanfelt, J., Lah, J.J. & Levey, A.I. (2008). Effects of Hypertension and Hypercholesterolemia on Cognitive

Functioning in Patients with Alzheimer Disease. *Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders*.

- Goldstein, F. C., Ashley, A. V., Freedman, L. J., Penix, L., Lah, J. J., Hanfelt, J., et al. (2005). Hypertension and cognitive performance in African Americans with Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*, *64*(5), 899-901.
- Guttmann, C. R., Jolesz, F. A., Kikinis, R., Killiany, R. J., Moss, M. B., Sandor, T., et al. (1998). White matter changes with normal aging. *Neurology*, *50*(4), 972-978.
- Hargrave, R., Geck, L. C., Reed, B., & Mungas, D. (2000). Affective behavioural disturbances in Alzheimer's disease and ischaemic vascular disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 68(1), 41-46.
- Hayden, K. M., P. P. Zandi, et al. (2006). Vascular risk factors for incident Alzheimer disease and vascular dementia - The Cache County study. *Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders 20*(2): 93-100.
- Head, D., Buckner, R. L., Shimony, J. S., Williams, L. E., Akbudak, E., Conturo, T. E., et al. (2004). Differential vulnerability of anterior white matter in nondemented aging with minimal acceleration in dementia of the Alzheimer type: evidence from diffusion tensor imaging. *Cereb Cortex*, *14*(4), 410-423.
- Heaton, R. K. (1981). *Wisconsin Card Sorting Test.* Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc. Odessa.
- Horsfield, M. A., & Jones, D. K. (2002). Applications of diffusion-weighted and diffusion tensor MRI to white matter diseases a review. *NMR Biomed, 15*(7-8), 570-577.

- Jefferson, A. L., Cahn-Weiner, D., Boyle, P., Paul, R. H., Moser, D. J., Gordon, N., et al. (2006). Cognitive predictors of functional decline in vascular dementia. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 21(8), 752-754.
- Jernigan, T. L., Archibald, S. L., Fennema-Notestine, C., Gamst, A. C., Stout, J. C., Bonner, J., et al. (2001). Effects of age on tissues and regions of the cerebrum and cerebellum. *Neurobiol Aging*, *22*(4), 581-594.
- Kamper, A. M., Stott, D. J., Hyland, M., Murray, H. M., & Ford, I. (2005). Predictors of functional decline in elderly people with vascular risk factors or disease. *Age Ageing*, 34(5), 450-455.
- Kaplan, E.F., Goodglass, H., Weintraub, S. (1983) *The Boston Naming Test.* Lippincott, Williams & Wilkings. Philadelphia.
- Kuo, H. K., Jones, R. N., Milberg, W. P., Tennstedt, S., Talbot, L., Morris, J. N., et al. (2005). Effect of blood pressure and diabetes mellitus on cognitive and physical functions in older adults: a longitudinal analysis of the advanced cognitive training for independent and vital elderly cohort. *J Am Geriatr Soc, 53*(7), 1154-1161.
- Lawton, M. P. and E. M. Brody (1969). Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. *Gerontologist 9*(3): 179-186.
- Levy, R., & Czernecki, V. (2006). Apathy and the basal ganglia. *J Neurol, 253 Suppl 7*, VII54-61.
- Levy, R., & Dubois, B. (2006). Apathy and the functional anatomy of the prefrontal cortex-basal ganglia circuits. *Cereb Cortex, 16*(7), 916-928.

- Lezak, M.D., Howieson, D.B., Loring, D.W., Hannay, H.J., Fischer, J.S. (2004). *Neuropsychological Assessment*, 4th ed., Oxford University Press, New York.
- Lichter, D.G. & Cummings, J.L (2001). *Frontal-Subcortical Circuits in Psychiatric and Neurological Disorders*, The Guilford Press, New York.
- Marin, R. S. (1991). Apathy: a neuropsychiatric syndrome. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci, 3*(3), 243-254.
- Marin, R. S. (1997). Apathy Who cares? An introduction to apathy and related disorders of diminished motivation. *Psychiatric Annals* 27(1): 18-23.
- Marin, R. S., & Wilkosz, P. A. (2005). Disorders of diminished motivation. *J Head Trauma Rehabil, 20*(4), 377-388.
- Marshall, G. A., Fairbanks, L. A., Tekin, S., Vinters, H. V., & Cummings, J. L. (2006). Neuropathologic correlates of apathy in Alzheimer's disease. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*, *21*(3), 144-147.
- McDowell, I., and Newell, C. (1996). *Measuring Health: A Guide to Rating Scales and Questionnaires*, 2nd edition.Oxford University Press, New York.
- McKhann, G., D. Drachman, et al. (1984). Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease:
 report of the NINCDS-ADRDA Work Group under the auspices of Department of
 Health and Human Services Task Force on Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurology* 34(7): 939-944.
- McPherson, S., Fairbanks, L., Tiken, S., Cummings, J. L., & Back-Madruga, C. (2002).
 Apathy and executive function in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 8(3), 373-381.

- Mega, M. S. (2001). Differential diagnosis of dementia: clinical examination and laboratory assessment. *Clin Cornerstone*, *3*(4), 1-14.
- Mendez, M.F. & Cummings, J.L. (2003). *Dementia: A Clinical Approach*, 3rd ed., Butterworth Heinemann, Philadelphia.
- Miller, B.L. & Cummings J.L. (2007). *The Human Frontal Lobes: Functions and Disorders*, 2nd ed., The Guilford Press, New York.
- Mori, S. (2007). Introduction to Diffusion Tensor Imaging, Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Morris, J. C., A. Heyman, et al. (1989). "The Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD). Part I. Clinical and neuropsychological assessment of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology 39*(9): 1159-1165.
- Muller, M. J., Greverus, D., Dellani, P. R., Weibrich, C., Wille, P. R., Scheurich, A., et al. (2005). Functional implications of hippocampal volume and diffusivity in mild cognitive impairment. *Neuroimage*, 28(4), 1033-1042.
- Muller, M. J., Greverus, D., Weibrich, C., Dellani, P. R., Scheurich, A., Stoeter, P., et al. (2007). Diagnostic utility of hippocampal size and mean diffusivity in amnestic MCI. *Neurobiol Aging*, *28*(3), 398-403.
- Naggara, O., Oppenheim, C., Rieu, D., Raoux, N., Rodrigo, S., Dalla Barba, G., et al. (2006). Diffusion tensor imaging in early Alzheimer's disease. *Psychiatry Res*, *146*(3), 243-249.
- O'Brien, J., & Lilienfeld, S. (2002). Relevant clinical outcomes in probable vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease with cerebrovascular disease. *J Neurol Sci,* 203-204, 41-48.

- Oosterman, J. M., de Vries, K., & Scherder, E. J. (2007). Executive ability in relation to blood pressure in residents of homes for the elderly. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol,* 22(6), 731-738.
- Pfeffer, R. I., T. T. Kurosaki, et al. (1982). Measurement of functional activities in older adults in the community. *J Gerontol* 37(3): 323-329.
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2004). SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, and Computers*, 36, 717-731.
- Raz, N., Gunning, F. M., Head, D., Dupuis, J. H., McQuain, J., Briggs, S. D., et al.
 (1997). Selective aging of the human cerebral cortex observed in vivo: differential vulnerability of the prefrontal gray matter. *Cereb Cortex, 7*(3), 268-282.
- Ringman, J. M., O'Neill, J., Geschwind, D., Medina, L., Apostolova, L. G., Rodriguez, Y., et al. (2007). Diffusion tensor imaging in preclinical and presymptomatic carriers of familial Alzheimer's disease mutations. *Brain, 130*(Pt 7), 1767-1776.
- Robbins, M. A., M. F. Elias, et al. (2005). Blood pressure and cognitive function in an African-American and a Caucasian-American sample: The Maine-Syracuse Study. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 67(5): 707-714.
- Robert, P. H., Clairet, S., Benoit, M., Koutaich, J., Bertogliati, C., Tible, O., et al. (2002).
 The apathy inventory: assessment of apathy and awareness in Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and mild cognitive impairment. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, *17*(12), 1099-1105.

- Robert, P. H., Darcourt, G., Koulibaly, M. P., Clairet, S., Benoit, M., Garcia, R., et al. (2006). Lack of initiative and interest in Alzheimer's disease: a single photon emission computed tomography study. *Eur J Neurol, 13*(7), 729-735.
- Roman, G. C. (2004). Vascular dementia. Advances in nosology, diagnosis, treatment and prevention. *Panminerva Med, 46*(4), 207-215.
- Rose, S. E., McMahon, K. L., Janke, A. L., O'Dowd, B., de Zubicaray, G., Strudwick, M.
 W., et al. (2006). Diffusion indices on magnetic resonance imaging and neuropsychological performance in amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 77(10), 1122-1128.
- Rose, S. E., A. L. Janke, et al. (2008). Gray and white matter changes in Alzheimer's disease: A diffusion tensor imaging study. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging 27*(1): 20-26.
- Salat, D. H., Tuch, D. S., Hevelone, N. D., Fischl, B., Corkin, S., Rosas, H. D., et al. (2005). Age-related changes in prefrontal white matter measured by diffusion tensor imaging. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1064*, 37-49.
- Scherder, E., Eggermont, L., Sergeant, J., & Boersma, F. (2007). Physical activity and cognition in Alzheimer's disease: relationship to vascular risk factors, executive functions and gait. *Rev Neurosci, 18*(2), 149-158.
- Schindler, R. J. (2005). Dementia with cerebrovascular disease: the benefits of early treatment. *Eur J Neurol, 12 Suppl 3*, 17-21.
- Starkstein, S. E., & Manes, F. (2000). Apathy and depression following stroke. *CNS Spectr, 5*(3), 43-50.

- Starkstein, S. E., Petracca, G., Chemerinski, E., & Kremer, J. (2001). Syndromic validity of apathy in Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Psychiatry*, *158*(6), 872-877.
- Storandt, M., J. Botwinick, et al. (1984). Psychometric differentiation of mild senile dementia of the Alzheimer type. *Arch Neurol* 41(5): 497-499.
- Sullivan, E. V., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2003). Diffusion tensor imaging in normal aging and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Eur J Radiol, 45*(3), 244-255.
- Tekin, S., & Cummings, J. L. (2002). Frontal-subcortical neuronal circuits and clinical neuropsychiatry: an update. *J Psychosom Res, 53*(2), 647-654.
- Teng, E., Lu, P. H., & Cummings, J. L. (2007). Neuropsychiatric symptoms are associated with progression from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*, 24(4), 253-259.
- Townsend, B. A., Petrella, J. R., & Doraiswamy, P. M. (2002). The role of neuroimaging in geriatric psychiatry. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, *15*(4), 427-432.
- van der Mast, R. C., Vinkers, D. J., Stek, M. L., Bek, M. C., Westendorp, R. G. J., Gussekloo, J., et al. (2008). Vascular disease and apathy in old age. The Leiden 85-Plus Study. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 23(3), 266-271.
- Verdelho, A., Madureira, S., Ferro, J. M., Basile, A. M., Chabriat, H., Erkinjuntti, T., et al. (2007). Differential impact of cerebral white matter changes, diabetes, hypertension and stroke on cognitive performance among non-disabled elderly. The LADIS study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, *78*(12), 1325-1330.
- Wechsler, D. (1997). *Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale—3rd Edition (WAIS-3).* San Antonio, TX: Harcourt Assessment.

Wilson, R. S., M. Sullivan, et al. (1996). Association of memory and cognition in

Alzheimer's disease with volumetric estimates of temporal lobe structures. *Neuropsychology 10*(4): 459-463.

- Yamashita, K., Iijima, K., & Kobayashi, S. (1999). Relationship among activities of daily living, apathy, and subjective well-being in elderly people living alone in a rural town. *Gerontology, 45*(5), 279-282.
- Yeager, C. A., & Hyer, L. (2008). Apathy in dementia: relations with depression, functional competence, and quality of life. *Psychol Rep, 102*(3), 718-722.